# PHYSICAL ACTIVITY PREVALENCE AND BARRIERS TO PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AMONG YEREVAN ADULT POPULATION

Master of Public Health Thesis Project Utilizing Professional Publication Framework

LIANA HAKOBYAN, MD, MPH candidate

College of Health Sciences American University of Armenia

Primary Advisor: George Jakab, PhD

Secondary Advisor: Haroutune K. Armenian, MD, DrPH

Yerevan, Armenia October 2005

# Acknowledgements

I am very appreciative to my advisers whose invaluable contribution has been of tremendous help in preparing this paper. To both Dr. George Jakab and Dr. Haroutune Armenian I owe tremendous debts of gratitude.

I am grateful to the faculty members of the American University of Armenia (AUA) as well as to the staff of the Center for Health Services and Research at AUA who have always been generous with their time and talents in advising me.

I have been fortunate to have assistance from my wonderful friends and colleges, with whom I have been privileged to study. Their many wise suggestions, comments, and perceptive questions have been invaluable.

My deepest thanks are expressed to my family that has always been a constant source of love, inspiration and encouragement to me.

# **Acronyms and Abbreviations**

CVD Cardiovascular Disease

HEPA Health Enhancing Physical Activity

IPAQ International Physical Activity Questionnaire

MET Metabolic Equivalent

PA Physical Activity

RDD Random Digit Dialing

WHO World Health Organization

## **Abstract**

Although scientific evidence and experience show that regular physical activity provides people, both male and female, of all ages and conditions with a wide range of physical, social and mental health benefits, most of the world continues to live in a sedentary society.

Of great and growing concern to the public and this survey is the prevention of severe diseases directly related to physical inactivity, such as corona ry heart disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus, obesity, colon and breast cancer.

This cross-sectional RDD survey was conducted to estimate the prevalence of physical activity in the adult population of Yerevan; to identify groups with escalated health risks due to sedentary life-style, i.e. to highlight the relationship between physical activity and sociodemographic indicators; and to understand the major barriers to physical activity.

The surveyed sample consisted of 74 Armenian-speaking men and women, residents of Yerevan, Armenia, all between the ages of 18 and 65. Consistent throughout the modified version of International Physical Activity questionnaire, was the categorization of participants ranging from physically inactive to minimally active and health enhancing physical activity level.

This survey resulted in a 73% prevalence of sedentary lifestyle. After stepwise logistic regression analysis no statistically significant associations were found between physical activity level and sociodemographic indicators, such as age, gender, education, occupation, income level and marital status.

Overall, 55% of the participants considered themselves as physically active people. From those 54 people reported no activity/minimal activity, almost 50% are satisfied by their level of physical activity. The most frequently reported barriers were lack of time and lack of energy.

The Yerevan population suffers from a high rate of physical inactivity even more than western world. Since physical inactivity is a modifiable risk factor for many diseases, there is an opportunity to reduce future health expenditures and to improve population health and quality of life through increasing the level of activity and the proportion of active population.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acknowledgements	i
Acronyms and Abbreviations	i
Abstract	i
1. Introduction	1
2. Background/Literature Review	1
3. Study Objectives/ Research Questions/ Variables	7
4. Methods	8
4.1 Study Design	8
4.2 Sampling	
4.3 Study Population	9
4.4 Sample Size Calculation	10
4.5 Data Collection	
4.6 Survey instrument	11
4.61 Data Coding	
4.6 Statistical analysis	14
5. Ethical Considerations	14
6. Results	15
6.1 Response Rate Calculation	15
6.2 Sociodemographic Data	16
6.3 Physical activity related findings	17
7. Discussion	18
8. Conclusions and Recommendations	22
References and Bibliography	24
List of journals where this paper can be published	
APPENDIX 1 - Interviewer Manual	
APPENDIX 2- Interviewer Report Form	
APPENDIX 3 - English and Armenian versions of Survey Questionnaire	
Questionnaire: English Version	
Questionnaire: Armenian Version	42
TABLE 1 Dependent Variable Used in the Model	
TABLE 2 Independent Variables Used in the Model	
TABLE 3 Yerevan Hamaynks According to the Number of People Living	
TABLE 4 Prevalence of low-level physical activity in Russian population 2000-2002	
TABLE 5 Timeframe of the Study (2005)	
TABLE 6 Response to the Telephone Interview Survey	
TABLE 7 Distribution of Sample Characteristics	55

# 1. Introduction

A number of unprecedented global changes occurred in human society during the recent century (urbanization, development of information technologies, etc.), many of which had their impact on public health by affecting the underlying determinants of diseases, the risk factors which lead to a specific disease. Technology, which made people's lives easier, also made them more sedentary. People became the "slaves" of convenience, especially automobiles. Thus, compared with the average human being of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, a 21-century-man gets much less physical activity.

Meanwhile, scientific evidence and experience show that regular physical activity (PA) provides people, both male and female, of all ages and conditions with a wide range of physical, social and mental health benefits (1, 2, 3).

# 2. Background/Literature Review

The term "physical activity" needs to be distinguished from the terms "exercise" and "physical fitness". Physical activity is defined as bodily movement that is produced by the contraction of skeletal muscles and that substantially increases energy expenditure; exercise is a repetitive bodily movement done to improve or maintain the components of physical fitness; and physical fitness is a set of attributes people have or achieve that relates to the ability to perform physical activity (4). The term physical activity also carries the added benefit of being less intimidating to the inactive person than the terms exercise or physical fitness (4).

Physical activity has been recognized as one of the leading health indicators; and inactivity is among the major public health concerns all over the world (1,2,3,5).

Regular physical activity reduces the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD), obesity, type II diabetes mellitus, and certain types of cancer (colon cancer, breast cancer) (1,2,3,4,10,11).

Worldwide, cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death and is responsible for nearly 20% of all deaths (11). The risk of CVD increases 1.5 times in people who do not follow minimum physical activity recommendations (5).

Arterial hypertension is the most common CVD and a major public health problem in both developed and developing countries (3). It produces a marked effect on patients, their relatives and society either because of hypertension itself or through its complications (stroke, heart attack, ischemic heart disease, renal dysfunction, and heart failure) (9, 11). Regular physical activity is a modifiable factor for prevention and treatment of hypertension (11). It reduces the risk of prematurely death from heart disease and other complications through its effect on such biomarkers of CVD and obesity risks as blood lipids, insulin sensitivity, and thrombogenic factors (12). Meanwhile, sedentary individuals have 20-50% greater risk of developing hypertension during follow-up than their more active peers (1, 3, 4).

Malignant neoplasms are the second leading cause of death worldwide following CVD (11). Colon cancer is one of the most common types of cancer (11). In the US, 107,000 people are newly diagnosed with colon cancer each year (15). Physical activity reduces the risk of colon cancer by its effect on prostaglandins, reduced intestinal transit time and higher antioxidant levels (5).

The second cause of female deaths from cancer after the lung cancer is a cancer of breast (11). Several epidemiological studies suggest that moderate physical activity may have hormonal effects that lengthe n the menstrual cycle, resulting in lower levels of estrogen and progesterone which reduce the risk of breast cancer (5, 16, 17).

Approximately 150 million adults in the world had diabetes in 2000 of which type II diabetes constituted about 85-95% (15). The increase of diabetes prevalence is projected to occur because of population aging, unhealthy diet, obesity and a sedentary lifestyle (15). Physical activity improves glucose metabolism thus reducing the risk of occurrence of diabetes (5).

As a result of lifestyle and dietary changes, overweightness and obesity have reached epidemic proportions all over the world. Approximately 61% of the adult population is either obese or overweight in the USA (9). With the increase of body mass index the risk of premature death also increases (13). Overweightness and obesity themselves are associated with an increased risk of developing various diseases, the most hazardous of which are CVD, certain cancers (endometrial, colon, breast, and kidney), high blood pressure, and type II diabetes (11).

The San-Antonio Heart study found that weight gain was associated with an unfavorable shift in the CVD risk factor variables, whereas CVD risk could be reduced with weight loss (14). Weight reduction is among main benefits of physical activity (5).

A study conducted in Norfolk revealed that interventions to promote participation in high impact activities help preserve bone density and reduce the risk of fracture. Physical activity also helps to prevent osteoporosis and it is important for muscles, bones and joints (20).

Mental health disorders are also significant public health problems all over the world (19). Regular physical activity reduces morbidity and mortality from mental health disorders (18). A Canadian Study of Health and Aging showed that regular physical activity is a potential preventive strategy against Alzheimer's disease (19). In addition, animal research suggests that exercise may stimulate the growth of new brain cells that increase memory and learning (13).

Among other benefits of PA are reduced feelings of stress, improved psychological well-being and physical function, and enhanced self-esteem (5, 13).

Meanwhile, physical inactivity, along with other key risk factors, is a significant contributor to the global burden of chronic disease (1, 2, 3, 5, 10, 11). According to the World Health Organization, physical inactivity is estimated to cause 2 million deaths worldwide annually (5). It is also related to a less healthy pattern of eating behavior, characterized by a greater consumption of fat among the inactive, as defined by the Canada Food Guide (2).

The economic cost of physical inactivity on patients, their family, society and health care systems includes higher health care costs, more absentee ism and less productivity as well as the value of future earnings lost by premature death (5, 10). Persons who exercise less use 30% more hospital days and are 41% more likely to have annual claims over \$5000 than whose who are more physically active (18). A study conducted in the US estimated that increasing physical activity potentially saved about twice as much as that for a non-smoker (approximately US\$ 1990 per person) (10).

Researches showed that the elimination of physical inactivity would result in 15-39% less coronary heart disease, 33% less stroke, 12% less hypertension, 12-35% less diabetes, 22-33% less colon cancer, 5-12% less breast cancer and 18% less osteoporotic fractures (1).

Recent research evidence on the health benefits of physical activity has provided new view on the dose-response characteristics of activity and health. While previous recommendations emphasized vigorous aerobic exercise, newer data indicate that health benefits are also accrued through intermittent daily activity of moderate intensity (1, 4). Based on the intervention and epidemiological evidence, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine have jointly published the new recommendations that health-related benefits could accrue from a minimum of 30 minutes of

moderate-intensity activity, such as carrying light loads, brisk walk, pushing a vacuum cleaner or bicycling at a regular pace, on most, preferably all, days of the week (4). Certainly, additional benefits can be gained through greater amounts and/or intensity of physical activity (4).

Although the past years have strongly proven the health benefits of physical activity, most of the world continues to live in a sedentary society (3). According to the World Health Organization, at least 60% of the global population fails to achieve the minimum recommendation of 30 minutes of daily moderate intensity physical activity (5). Moreover, physical activity declines significantly with age, it is generally higher among females, and the overall inactivity trend is worse in poor urban areas (5).

According to the data from the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, more than one half of American adults do not get enough physical activity to provide health benefits, while 25% of adults are not active at all in their leisure-time (7).

Recent estimates in Canada indicate that 14 to 17 million adults face the risk of an early death, acute health problems and chronic health conditions due to sedentary living. This figure is double that estimated for the 7 million Canadians facing health problems because of smoking (2).

A study conducted to document the prevalence of PA during leisure-time in the European region showed that while in Finland (Northern Europe) 91.9% of population practiced regular physical activity, in Portugal (Southern Europe) this figure was only 40.7%. In the pooled European data, women were found to be less physically active than men. In both genders, the PA level was higher in nonsmokers and participants with higher level of education (1).

In many studies individuals report that certain conditions and situations impede their ability to be physically active. Barriers to physical activity are diverse and include issues of environment, psychological factors, health, etc. (8, 25,38)

Socio-environmental factors, such as lack of encouragement or companionship from family and friends can affect the physical activity practice. Environmental barriers include air pollution, automobile traffic, lack of parks or safe and pleasant walking paths (38).

Among the above mentioned physiological, behavioral and psychological factors which may affect people's physical activity are lack of self-motivation, lack of confidence in the ability to be physically active, fear of being injured, lack of self-management skills (ability to set personal goals and monitor progress) (38).

For example, a study conducted in Israel showed that only 10% of the population met the national recommendations for physical activity and the most common barriers for physical activity mentioned by the participants were lack of time and/or energy as well as smoking habits (8). Research conducted by the European Center on Health of Societies in Transition revealed that in Baltic countries almost half of the responders (Lithuania: 60%, Latvia: 52%, Estonia: 43%) participated only in sedentary activities during their leisure-time. Most prominent barriers to physical activity were reported to be lack of time (54% of the sample) and laziness (46.7% of the sample) (25).

Armenia is now in a phase of epidemiological transition and faces the double burden of communicable and non-communicable diseases. While the infectious and parasitic diseases still remain a problem, the prevalence of chronic diseases among adults is increasing which is mostly the result of unhealthy lifestyle (23).

Three leading causes of morbidity in Armenia are CVD, malignant neoplasm, and injuries (23). Mortality rate from acute myocardial infarction in Armenia was 54/per 100 000 in 1994 and increased to 72/per 100 000 in 2002 comprising 54% of general mortality (24).

Mortality rate from hypertension in 1985 was 52.8 per 100, 000 population, increased to 75.4 per 100,000 in 1999, and reached 81 per 100 000 in 2002 (24).

Armenia is one of countries in the European region with the highest mortality rates from diabetes. These numbers increased nearly four-fold from 1981-1998 (23).

The prevalence of psychiatric disorders in Armenia accounts for 4.8 per 1000 population (22).

Data regarding the prevalence of physical activity and its association with various characteristics of Armenian men and women are lacking. The only found data are on the case-control study of injuries arising from the earthquake in Armenia (1988) conducted by H. K. Armenian et al., which studied the population of the city of Leninakan, where 43.3% of cases and 70% of controls reported practicing regular exercise (39). Another study conducted in the same region aimed to assess the relation of increased mortality and morbidity to personal loss and damage following the 1988 earthquake revealed that 87% of study subjects did not practice regular exercise (40).

This study has been proposed due to lack of data on the prevalence of physical activity in Yerevan, Armenia. Estimation of the prevalence is necessary for planning a public health response and select preventive measures appropriate for local conditions.

# 3. Study Objectives/ Research Questions/ Variables

The **aim** of this study is the prevention of severe diseases directly related to physical inactivity, such as coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus, obesity, colon and breast cancer.

The **objectives** of this survey were the following:

• To determine the prevalence of physical activity among 18-65 years-old adults in Yerevan, Armenia

- To identify groups with escalated health risks due to sedentary life-style, i.e. to highlight the association between physical activity and sociodemographic indicators (age, gender, education, income)
- To understand the major barriers to physical activity

The main **research questions** of the study are:

- 1. What is the prevalence of *physical activity* among the 18-65-year-old population of Yerevan?
- 2,3,4,5. Is there an association between the *age*, *gender*, *education* and *income* of Yerevan adults and their level of *physical activity*?
  - 6. What are the *barriers* to physical activity perceived by target population?

Therefore, the **dependent variable** of the study is the level of physical activity (inactive/minimally active) and the **independent variables** are age, gender, education, income, marital status, and occupation. The variables, modes of their measurement as well as scales of measurement are presented on the Tables 1 and 2.

# 4. Methods

#### 4.1 Study Design

To have systematically collected data and conduct the appropriate statistical analysis that would provide an assessment of the need for the future intervention strategies, a cross-sectional population-based telephone survey of Yerevan adult population was conducted. This study design was chosen because of objectives desired to achieve, as well as efficiency in time and expenses (27). The limitation of the cross-sectional design is that it cannot provide causal relationship, but only test association between variables (27).

## 4.2 Sampling

To generate an appropriate sample for the proposed survey, probability sampling by Random Digit Dialing (RDD) technique was used. This method allows drawing the study sample from the Yerevan general population randomly and because of randomization, the sample is representative of the Yerevan general population and the collected data are reliable and generalizable (27). There are 350.000 telephone lines located in Yerevan, from which 90.3% are located in households (36). From 277,194 households of Yerevan 219,209 have telephones at home, i.e. the coverage of Yerevan households by phones is 79% (44).

Phone numbers were generated by means of Microsoft Excel program (see appendix 1, *Sample* part). In comparison with a list-assisted RDD, the chosen methodology is unrestricted by the problem of missing people with unlisted or new numbers (28).

Different codes used in RDD identify people from different geographic locations within the city, i.e. different Quarter Communities (*Hamaynks*) (27). The first two digits are corresponding to the area codes (for example 54, 53, 56, 58-*Kentron Hamaynk*), and the remaining four digits are randomly generated. Phone numbers were assigned according to the number of people living in each *Hamaynk* (see Table 3). Thus, the sample represents the households from different areas of Yerevan.

# 4.3 Study Population

The *target population* was the general population of Yerevan.

The *survey population* was the Yerevan adult population. Subjects for the study were chosen based on the following inclusion criteria: residency in Yerevan, age between 18-65 years old at the start of the survey, willingness to participate, and ability to speak Armenian.

The *sample frame* was constituted of all telephone households in Yerevan.

Sample units were selected by Random Digit Dialing. Considering the possibility, that there can be more than one eligible respondent in the household, random selection was used to determine who should be interviewed. The simplification of Kish technique (called after the inventor, Leslie Kish), the "next birthday" technique was used, according to which the selected respondent must be the one, whose birthday is coming up next (30).

#### 4.4 Sample Size Calculation

To calculate the sample size for the proposed one group descriptive study, the formula for estimate-proportion was utilized (30). The *sample size* was defined by using  $\mathbf{n}=\mathbf{z}^2*\mathbf{pq/d^2}$  formula, where p is the proportion of those individuals who have the desired characteristic (proportion of people with enough activity level for a healthy lifestyle), q (1-p) is the proportion of those individuals who do not have the desired characteristic (proportion of inactive and minimally active people) and d is desired level of precision (30).

For 95% desired Confidence Interval type I error will be a =0.05. Thus, the Za= 1.96 (two-sided). Maximum percent difference that we are willing to accept between the true population rate and the sample rate is 10%. Therefore, d is equal to 0.1.

Since there was no information on the studies conducted in Yerevan on this topic, no available data on the prevalence of physical activity were found. To estimate sample size for this particular study data from the Moscow Behavior Risk Factor Survey were used. In Moscow, Russia the age-adjusted prevalence of low level of physical activity is 74.8% for both males and females (see Table 4, (26)). The rationale for choosing Russian data is that the Armenian population can be defined as more similar to Russian population than to other countries' population.

Therefore, it was assumed that 25.2 % (p=0.252) of Yerevan population are practicing enough activity for a healthy lifestyle and 74.8% (q=1-p=0.748) are inactive or minimally

active. Taking into consideration all above mentioned factors, the sample size was estimated as  $n=1.96^{2*}0.252^{*}0.748/0.1^{2}=\sim72$ 

Taking into account the possibility of non-responses and assuming non-response to be 20% (from the previous RDD survey conduced in Yerevan in 1999) it was suggested to increase the sample size to  $88 \sim 90$  (72\*0.2+72) (31).

#### 4.5 Data Collection

Data were collected from June 20 to July 30 2005 in telephone interviews by the student investigator using a structured questionnaire. Time frame of the study is presented in the Table 5. Interviews were conducted in Armenian since 96% of the population speaks the language (37). The information about the procedures maintained to maximize response rate (procedures for gaining cooperation and establishing rapport with respondents) as well as general information about the survey (purpose, sponsor) is introduced in the Interviewer Manual (Appendix 1).

## 4.6 Survey instrument

The study instrument was an interviewer – administered questionnaire, which was developed on the basis of the short-form of International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (32).

The IPAQ instrument was developed as a core instrument for the International Prevalence Study that aimed to collect nationally comparable prevalence estimates on physical activity from a diverse set of countries from around the world. The above mentioned study involved 19 countries and it used the telephone or self-administered shortform of IPAQ to determine the national prevalence of physical activity. This study is now completed and will be reported soon (32).

The investigators from 12 countries collected reliability and validity data on the IPAQ instrument and they concluded that the IPAQ instrument had reasonable measurement properties for monitoring population levels of physical activity among 18- to 69-year-old adults in diverse settings (Spearman's *Rho* clustered around 0.8 indicating reliable responses between repeat administrations; criterion validity had a median *rho* of about 0.3 against the Computer Science Applications accelerometer for minutes of moderate, vigorous, walking and sedentary behaviors, which was comparable to most other self-report validation studies) (33).

Therefore, IPAQ instrument provides valid and internationally comparable measures of physical activity within and between countries. Moreover, it was designed for phone surveys particularly (32). Moscow Behavior Risk Factor Survey in Russia also used this questionnaire (32, 26).

A study conducted in Belgium revealed that overreporting of physical activity in population samples is a serious problem. It was suggested, however, that this problem could be reduced by implementing procedure changes without changing the IPAQ items themselves (34).

The IPAQ instrument was translated into Armenian, modified and adapted to Armenian culture. Pilot testing of the translated instrument was done with 20 people from a broad range of backgrounds, educational level and socioeconomic status.

The study was not restricted to leisure-time activities since this might overestimate the prevalence of sedentary lifestyle in the population. IPAQ assess physical activity undertaken across a comprehensive set of domains including leisure-time, domestic and yard activities, work-related and transport-related activities. The IPAQ short-form asks about three specific types of activity undertaken in the domains introduced above (walking, moderate-intensity

activities and vigorous-intensity activities) as well as sitting. Frequency (measured in days per week) and duration (time per day) are collected separately for each type of activity.

In addition to the physical activity status, the study's questionnaire included demographic characteristics like age, gender, family status (single, married, divorced, widowed), financial status (average monthly household expenditures at the time of the survey were used as a proxi for income assessment), educational level, occupational status, smoking status (current smoking defined as those who smoked at least one cigarette per day), subjective health and weight, as well as questions to assess knowledge on benefits of physical activity and barriers to physical activity. Both English and Armenian versions of the study instrument are presented on the Appendix 3.

## 4.61 Data Coding

Data were coded according to three degrees of physical activity – inactive, minimally active and Health Enhancing physical activity level. The level of physical activity was assigned according to the algorithm provided in <a href="https://www.ipaq.ki.se">www.ipaq.ki.se</a> website (32). For the statistical analysis data were recoded according to two degrees of physical activity – inactive/minimally active and HEPA active. This was done because only HEPA level of activity is considered as "enough" physical activity for healthy lifestyle. Although minimally active category is more than the minimum level of activity recommended for adults in current public health recommendations, it is not enough for "total physical activity" when all domains are considered. IPAQ measures total physical activity, whereas the recommendations are based on activity (usually leisure-time or recreational) over and above usual daily activities.

Metabolic equivalents were assigned to each activity in order to classify participants to categories of physical activity. Metabolic equivalent is the amount of oxygen used by body as person sit quietly, for example, while talking on the phone or reading a book (32).

Metabolic equivalents were calculated as it is described on the table below.

Type of Activity	MET amount		
Walking	3.3 METs		
Moderate intensity activity	4.0 METs		
Vigorous intensity activity	8.0 METs		
Total MET-min/week= (Walk METs*min*days)+ (Mod METs*min*days)+ (Vig METs*min*days)			

#### 4.6 Statistical analysis

The guideline for data processing and analysis of the short-form of the IPAQ instrument available in the www.ipaq.ki.se was used (32).

Descriptive statistical analysis was performed for all variables. Categorical variables are presented as absolute frequencies and percentages, while continuous variables are presented as mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation.

Since the outcome was measured on dichotomous scale (inactive or minimally active versus HEPA active), stepwise logistic regression analysis was done to assess the association between physical activity level and age, gender, educational level, occupation, marital status and income (monthly household expenditures). In addition, chi-square was performed to assess the association between physical activity level and satisfaction by the level of activity.

All reported *P*-values are based on two-sided tests and compared to a significance level of 5%.

All statistical analyses were performed by means of the SPSS 11.0 software package.

# **5. Ethical Considerations**

The proposed study possessed no risk for participants. The topic of the survey was not sensitive. It took on the average 15 minutes to the respondent to be interviewed. Prior to starting each interview the consent form in Armenian was read to each informant (see

appendix 3). This document includes information about the main objectives of the study, its importance, risk/benefit and voluntary nature of the study. Participants were aware that their responses were coded and the anonymity of all provided information was insured. Names of the participants were not registered. The only identifiers were phone numbers, which were not written on the questionnaires. ID numbers were given to each phone number and they were not linked to the phone numbers since they were registered in a separate form: Interviewer Report Form (see Appendix 2). The results of the survey were displayed in an aggregate form. At the end of the study the data on personal identifiers (phone numbers) were destroyed.

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board Committee on Human Research of the American University of Armenia.

# 6. Results

#### 6.1 Response Rate Calculation

There were 74 interviews conducted out of 90 making response rate 80% (see Table 6). Two types of the response rate were calculated: response rate based on known eligible respondents and response rate based on known and unknown (estimated) eligible respondents. The latter was 75%.

1) Response rate based on known eligible

Response rate=# of completed interviews/ eligible= # of completed interviews/ completed interviews+ partial interviews+ unavailable for duration + refused to participate=72/72+2+5+11=72/90=80%

## 2) Response rate based on known and unknown (estimated) eligible respondents

In order to calculate response rate based on unknown eligible people, we had to estimate the proportion of known eligible people among all answered calls. This proportion is used for

approximating the number of cases with unknown status (unanswered calls, refused to screen, etc.)

Proportion of eligible respondents

Proportion of eligible=eligible/ all screene d = completed interviews +partial interviews+ unavailable for duration +refused interview +other screened/ completed interviews +partial interviews+ unavailable for duration + refused interview +other screened + ineligible+ business number + refused screening =72+2+5+11+0/72+2+5+11+0+10+5+2=90/107= 0.84 Response rate=# of completed interviews/ eligible=# of completed interviews/ completed interviews+ partial interviews+ unavailable for duration + refused to participate+ other screened +refused to screen (es timate) + busy number (estimate)+no answer (estimate). Response rate= 72/72 +2 +5+11+0 +2\*0.84 +3\*0.84 +2\*0.84 = 72/72 +2 +5+11+1.68+2.52+1.68=72/95.88=75%

## 6.2 Sociodemographic Data

Gender distribution: from the 74 interviewed people 31 % are males and 69 % are females. According to the results of 2001 population census (figures of Yerevan city), 18-65 year-old females comprised only 50% of general population of Yerevan (44).

Age of the sample: of the entire approached sample, the majority of the participants (40%) are 45-59 years old, 25 % are 18-29 years old, 31% are 30-44 years old, and only 4% are 60-65 years old.

The mean age of the participants was 40 years old and standard deviation was 13 years old. *Education:* of the entire approached sample, 43 % have university education, 33%-secondary school education and 24% are college graduates. According to the 2001 Census data, only 27% of Yerevan population has higher education (44).

*Occupation:* the majority of the sample consists of unoccupied individuals (60 %). Only 40% of individuals are occupied. In Yerevan 52% of people were occupied (2001).

Household monthly expenditures: the majority of the sample (68 %) reported monthly household expenses from 50,001 to 200,000 AMD, 21% spend from 25,000 to 50,000 AMD per month, 9 %- more than 200, 001 AMD monthly and only 2 % of sample spent less than 25,000 AMD per month.

Table 7 presents sociodemographic and behavioral characteristics of the participants.

# 6.3 Physical activity related findings

*Physical activity level:* 20% of the surveyed population is inactive, 53 % meet minimum recommendation physical activity level, and only 27% have health enhancing physical activity level.

*Time spent sitting:* 46% of the surveyed population spend sitting from 1 to 3 hours daily; 24% - form 4 to 6 hours daily and 13% - from 7 to 10 hours daily. Mean time spent sitting is 4 hours and standard deviation is 2 hours daily.

Knowledge on benefits of physical activity: from the entire approached sample, 41% were strongly agree that physical activity is beneficial for their health, 53% were agree of the same statement and only 4% of study subjects were uncertain of this statement.

The satisfaction of study participants by their level of physical activity was assessed. Overall, 55% of the participants consider themselves to be physically active people. From those 54 people reported no activity or minimal activity, almost 50% are satisfied by their level of physical activity. Meanwhile 43% out of 20 people who practice health enhancing physical activity level considers themselves as physically inactive persons (OR=0.231; 95% CI 0.068,0.787; Chi square 6.0, *P* value .019).

Categ	gory of activity		Percent satisfied by their level of activity
Inactive/Minimally	y active		~50%
HEPA active			57%
Chi-square 6.0	P value .019	Logisti	c regression OR 0.231, 95% CI (0.068,0.787)

Therefore, those who satisfied by their level of physical activity, in reality are less active persons.

Since the majority of the participants considered themselves as physically active people, only 20% reported barriers to their physical activity. The most frequently reported barriers are: lack of time, reported by 16% of the study subjects; poor health, mentioned by 12%; lack of energy, mentioned by 10% of the participants; bad mood, reported by 4% of them and lack of money, mentioned by only 4% of the participants.

Some people mentioned other barriers, such as laziness (1.4%) and unemployment (4%). No statistically significant associations were found between physical activity level and sociodemographic indicators, such as age, gender, education, income level occupation and marital status.

# 7. Discussion

In this study, 27% of participants were classified as physically active; 53% of survey subjects reported minimal activity level; and 20% reported no activity at all (Table 7).

Therefore, only 27% of participants practice physical activity enough for healthy lifestyle.

Another 73% can be considered as sedentary. This is quite high percentage in comparison with the data from other countries, despite we aimed to assess all life domains and not only leisure-time physical activity. In the US overall 58% of respondents were classified as sedentary (7). The same figure for Brazil is 41% and for Greece is 48% for females and 53% for males (41, 42). In France approximately 50-70% of population is sedentary during their leisure-time (43). Data on the countries of European region showed that while in Northern Europe (Finland) 91.9% of population practiced regular physical activity, in Southern Europe (Portugal) only 40.7% of population is physically active (1). From the former Soviet countries there are data on Baltic countries and Russia. In Baltic countries approximately half

of the population (Lithuania: 60%, Latvia: 52%, Estonia: 43%) participated only in sedentary activities during their leisure-time (25). According to the data from the Moscow Behavior Risk Factor Survey, in Moscow, Russia the age-adjusted prevalence of low level of physical activity is 74.8% for both males and females. The prevalence of sedentary lifestyle is even higher for other Russian regions (Table 4).

Different studies showed that physical activity level is associated with age. For example, a study conducted in France showed that meeting the recommended physical activity levels was more likely in subjects aged 60 years and older (43). A direct relationship between PA and age was found also in Israel (8). On the contrary, in the US and Brazil the association between physical activity and age was negative (7, 41). This study did not found any statistically significant association between physical activity level and age. This could be due to the fact that little percentage of each age group representatives participated in the study.

In many studies women tend to be less active than men (European countries, Greece) (1, 42). On the contrary, in France, females tend to be more active than males (43). No significant association was found between gender and physical activity in Russia (26). This study also did not found any statistically significant association between physical activity level and gender.

Physical activity was inversely related to educational level in the US, Israel, Baltic countries, whereas positive relationship was found between physical activity and education in the pooled European data (7, 8, 25, 1). This study also did not found any statistically significant association between physical activity level and education.

Physical activity was inversely related to income level in the US, Israel, and Brazil, whereas positive relationship was found between physical activity and income in Baltic

countries (7,8,25, 41). This study also did not found any statistically significant association between physical activity level and income.

A description of the profile of the participants of a study conducted in Greece showed that physically active people had higher occupation skills, were more likely to be unmarried and to be non-smokers, as compared to sedentary, irrespective of age ad gender (42). However, in a population-based study of men and women from the US the investigators observed that the change from a married to a single state did not affect PA relative to remaining married, while the transition from a single to a married state resulted in significant positive changes in PA relative to remaining single (9). This study did not found association between physical activity level and marital status as well as between physical activity level and being occupied. Family, work and other social responsibilities, as well as cultural differences may be responsible for the difference of the results between the present and other studies.

Study conducted in the US revealed that approximately 87% of Americans know that exercise is beneficial for their health (6). This study revealed that in spite of the fact that even more, 94% of the surveyed subjects were aware that physical activity is beneficial for health, the majority of the subjects were inactive.

The same study in the US showed that, although over half (52%) of the respondents were generally satisfied with the amount of exercise they get, 58% of them were classified as sedentary (6). Another study in Israel revealed that 17.5% of the sample that considered themselves physically active persons in reality was sedentary according to sport intensity calculations (8). This survey revealed that overall 55% out of the 74 participants consider themselves to be physically active people. Essentially, from those inactive people, almost half are satisfied by their level of physical activity (*P* value 0.012). On the contrary, 43% out of 20 people who practice health enhancing physical activity level considers themselves as

physically inactive persons. Two possible explanations for this unexpected result are as follows: first, such a question may have sounded slightly unclear to the participants; and second, this 43% of the sample may underestimate their overall health in regards to regular physical activity. The important message to be considered is that people are not aware of the concept of "enough" amount of physical activity.

The most frequently reported barriers to physical activity in this study are lack of time and lack of energy. Approximately the same barriers for physical activity were mentioned in a study conducted in Israel (lack of time and/or energy as well as smoking habits) (8). In Baltic countries also the most prominent barriers to physical activity were reported to be lack of time (54% of the sample) and laziness (46.7% of the sample) (25). Therefore, participants of studies in different countries mentioned types of physiological and behavioral barriers. These types of barriers should be considered in future health promotion programs.

The strengths of our study are high generalizability (79% coverage of population by phones), high response rate; randomized design (RDD and using of the "next birthday" technique ensures randomization at all stages of the survey); using of internationally valid and reliable instrument, which is designed for telephone interviews particularly and which provides comparable data across countries. Also this study was not restricted to leisure-time: it assessed all life-domains activities.

The study is a subject of at least four limitations. Firstly, misreporting of physical activity status due to self-reports may bias the results of the study. Secondly, income level was assessed by using only monthly household expenditures as a proxi. The study is a subject of recall bias, since last seven days recall was assessed. Subjectivity of health and weigh data is another limitation of the study. This study results cannot be generalized to the whole population of Armenia, especially to the population of rural areas.

Further research is recommended in this area to assess leisure-time, labor, and other life-domains separately. For this purposes it is recommended to use long-form IPAQ instrument.

# 8. Conclusions and Recommendations

Physical inactivity is a <u>modifiable</u> risk factor for many diseases, such as CVD, diabetes, certain types of cancers, etc. Therefore, there is an opportunity to reduce future health expenditures and to improve population health and quality of life through increasing the level of activity and the proportion of active population.

Our study is the first study conducted in Yerevan to assess the prevalence of sedentary living and barriers to physical activity. Despite the limitations of the present study, our findings carry an important public health message, i.e. that our community is mainly sedentary and is not aware of the concept of enough physical activity for healthy life-style. The results of this survey highlighted that all groups of population, regardless of age, gender, education and income, should be targeted in the future health promotion programs in different settings (health care settings, worksites, community, etc.). Achievement of this goal will require intensified efforts by health care providers as well as public health professionals, especially health educators. Improvement of physicians counseling practices, i. e. development of counseling protocols should be done. Also monitoring should be realized in order to supervise the compliance to protocols. Booklets, pamphlets and posters should be typed to target broad range of population. For the same reason Mass Media campaigns will also be very useful.

Establishment of special environments where people can be physically active, i.e. health clubs, will be another useful strategy to promote physically active lifestyle of population. The government should support all these programs.

The promotion of physical activity will bring additional benefits, since many studies confirmed that behaviors tend to cluster. Therefore, improvements in one behavior undoubtedly will lead to the improvements in other behaviors, i. e. improving physical activity practice will bring with it compliance to more healthy dietary patterns and in general to more healthy behavioral patterns.

# References and Bibliography

- The European Health Report 2002 WHO Regional Publications, European Series No. 97
   WHO Regional office for Europe: Copenhagen
- 2. Russell, J.S. & Craig, C. L. *Physical Activity and Lifestyles in Canada 1981-1995*. Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute
- 3. Berlin JA, Colditz GA. *A meta-analysis of physical activity in the prevention of coronary heart disease* American Journal of Epidemiology 1990; 132:639-46
- 4. Schafer E. T., Sagsveen M.G. *Physicians' Physical Activity Assessment and Counseling Practices A Study of North Dakota Primary Care Practitioners*Available from URL: http://edf5481-01.fa01.fsu.edu/Guide2.html
- 5. Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health WHO Report

  Available from URL: http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/publications/facts/pa/en
- 6. Stenson, Jacqueline. *Expanding waistlines the accepted norm?* Available from URL: http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/6909463
- 7. Crespo, C. J., Ainsworth, B.E., et al *Prevalence of physical inactivity and its relation to social class in U.S. adults: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey,*1988-1994 Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 31(12): 1821, December 1999

8. Costo, O., Azizy, L., Any, K. Prevalence of Sedentary Lifestyle and barriers to physical activity in Israel. Available from URL:

http://www.noar.technion.ac.il/scitech2001/medical\_science1.pdf

- 9. From the Center for Disease Control and Prevention. *Physical Activity trends—United States*, 1990-1998. JAMA.2001 Apr 11; 285(14):1835.
- 10. Keeler, E.B., Manning, W.G., Newhouse, J.P. et al. (1989)

The external cost of a sedentary lifestyle American Journal of Public Health, 79, 975-981

- 11. Denisov, IN., Ulumbekov, EG. (eds.) 1998 Spravochnik Putevoditel Prakticheskogo Vracha:2000 Boleznej ot A do Ya. [The Guide for the General Practitioner: 2000 Diseases from A to Z]Moscow: Geotar Medicine 1998
- 12. Fung TT, Hu BF, Jie Y., et. al. Leisure-Time Physical Activity, Television Watching, and Plasma Biomarkers of Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease Risk

  American Journal of Epidemiology 2000; 152:1171-8
- 13. Pratt, Macera & Wang. Cost and Consequences of Sedentary Living: New Battle ground for an Old Enemy. President's Council on Physical Fitness and Sports Research Digest March 2002 http://www.fitness.gov/Reading\_Room/Digests/digests.html
- 14. Rainwater, DL., Mitchel BD, Commuzie AG, et al. Associations among 5-Year Changes in weight, Physical Activity, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in Mexican Americans

  American Journal of Epidemiology.2000; 52: 974-82

- 15. Strum R. The effects of obesity, smoking and problem drinking on chronic medical problems and health care costs. Health Affairs 21(2):245-253.2002
- 16. Sternfeld B., Jacobs KM, Gold BE, et al. *Physical Activity and Menstrual Cycle Characteristics in Two Prospective Cohorts*. Am J of Epidemiology.2002; 156:402-9
- 17. Bernstein L, Henderson BE, Hanisch R, et al. *Physical exercise and reduced risk of breast cancer in young women.* J Natl Cancer Inst 1994; 86: 1403-8
- 18. Brink, Stephen, Disks. *Health Risks and Behavior: The Impact on Medical Costs*, 1987, Milliman & Robertson, Inc and Control Data
- 19. Lindsay, J., Laurin D., Verreault R., et al. *Risk Factors for Alzheimer's disease: A Prospective Analysis from the Canadian Study of Health and Aging*. American Journal of Epidemiology 2002; 156: 445-53
- 20. Wareham, NJ. Patterns of physical activity and ultrasound attenuation by heel bone among Norfolk cohort of European Prospective Investigation of Cancer (EPIC Norfolk): population based study. BMJ 2001 January 20; 322 (7279): 140 Available from URL: http://www.njw1004@medschl.cam.ac.uk
- 21. Thompson, David et al, *Estimated Economic Costs of Obesity to US.*, Am J Health Promot 1998; 13(2):120-127
- 22. Statistical Data on Public Health, Armenia Available from URL: http:// <a href="www.armstat.am/Stat">www.armstat.am/Stat</a>
  <a href="mailto:Data/2002/Public\_Health.pdf">Data/2002/Public\_Health.pdf</a>.

- 23. Hovhannisyan, S.G., Tragakes, E., Lessof, S. et al. Armenia: Health Care Systems in Transition 2001 Available from: URL: http://www.euro.who.int/document/e73698.pdf
- 24. National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia, 2003. Statistical Yearbook Armenia
- 25. Pomerleau J et al: *Physical inactivity in the Baltic countries*. Prev Med 2000; 31:665-72 Available from: URL: http://www.lshtm.ac.uk/ecohost
- 26. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Development in Russia
  Moscow Behavior Risk Factor Survey 2000-2001 Available from: http:// www.cindi.ru/ml.htm
- 27. Fowler, Floyd J. Sur vey research methods- 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Sage Publications, Inc. 2002
- 28. Shiraz I. Mishra, David Dooley, Ralph Catalano, Seth Serxner *Telephone health surveys:*Potential Bias from Noncompletion AJPH 1993 Jan; 83(1):95-9)
- 29. Bernard, H. Russell Research Methods in Anthropology: qualitative and quantitative approaches 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Altamira Press 2002
- 30. Aday LA. Designing and conducting health surveys: a comprehensive guide. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Jossey-Bass
- 31. Harutyunyan, T. *Breast Self-examination Practice in Yerevan women: Cross-sectional KAP survey* Master of Public Health Program thesis projects Vol. 1 of 4. AUA, College of Health Sciences Unpublished manuscript, 1999

- 32. International Physical Activity Questionnaire Available from URL: http://: www.ipaq.ki.se
- 33. Craig CL, Marshall AL, et al International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity 2000 Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute, Ottawa, Canada. Available from URL:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrive&db=PubMed&list\_uids=12900694 &dopt

34. Rzewnicki R, Vanden A. Y, De Bourdeaudhuij I. Addressing overreporting on the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) telephone survey with a population sample Available from URL:

http://www.celafiscs.com.br/docs/IPAQ%20MSSE%20agosto%202003%20original.pdf

- 35. *The Statistics Calculator* Professional survey software Available from URL: http://www.statpac.com/statistics-calculator/sampling.htm
- 36. Transport and Communication Statistics, Armenia. Available from URL http://www.armstat.am/StatData/2004/16%2OTransport.pdf.

Available from:

- 37. National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia *The Results of Census of Republic of Armenia of 2001 (Figures of the Republic of Armenia)* Available from URL: http://docs.armstat.am/census/eng.php
- 38. Napolitano, Melissa A., Bess, Marcus H. Breaking Barriers to Increased Physical Activity Physician and Sportsmedicine 2000, v.28:10

- 39. Armenian, H.K., Noji, E.K., Oganesian, A.P. *A case-control study of injuries arising from the earthquake in Armenia*, 1988 Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 70 (2): 251-257 (1992)
- 40. Armenian, H.K., Melkonian, A.K., Hovanesian, A. P. Long Term Mortality Related to Degrees of Damage Following the 1988 Earthquake in Armenia American Journal of Epidemiology Vol. 148, No. 11
- 41. Halls, P., Cesar Gomes, V. et al *Physical Inactivity: Prevalence and Associated Variables in Brazilian Adults* Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 35(11):1894-1900, November 2003.
- 42. Pitsavos Ch., Panagiotakos D., Lentaz Y., Stefanadis Ch. Epidemiology of leisure-time physical activity in socio-demographic, lifestyle and psychological characteristics of men and women in Greece: the ATTICA Study BMC *Public Health* 2005, 5:

Retrieved from: <a href="http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/5/37">http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/5/37</a>

- 43. Bertrais, S., Preziozi P. et al Sociodemographic and Geographic Correlates of Meeting
  Current Recommendations for Physical Activity in Middle-Aged French Adults: the
  Supplémentation en Vitamines et Minéraux Antioxydants (SUVIMAX) Study American Journal
  of Public Health Vol 94, No. 9: 1560-1566
- 44. National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia *The Results of 2001 Population*Census of the Republic of Armenia 2001 (Figures of Yerevan City) Yerevan 2003

# List of journals where this paper can be published

- Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise
- American Journal of Epidemiology
- American Journal of Public Health
- American Journal of Health Promotion
- Physician and Sport medicine

# **APPENDIX 1 - Interviewer Manual**

# American University of Armenia MPH PROGRAM

Survey on Physical Activity Prevalence and Barriers to Physical Activity among Yerevan Adult Population

# Purpose

This is a telephone survey of adults in the general population of Yerevan to determine the prevalence of physical activity; to identify groups with escalated health risks due to sedentary life-style, i.e. to highlight the association between physical activity and sociodemographic indicators and to understand the major barriers to physical activity. This Random Digit Dialing (RDD), non-CATI survey aims to estimate the physical activity across various life domains. This information is required to plan a public health response and select prevention measures appropriate for local conditions. This survey does not include questions about sensitive topics.

# **Sponsor**

Department of Public Health of the American University of Armenia sponsors the study. The second year MPH student at AUA Liana Hakobyan carries out the study as a Master thesis project. The principal investigators for this survey are Dr. George Jakab, PhD and Dr. Haroutune K. Armenian, MD, DrPH.

#### Assistance

If respondents have any questions about the survey, they should contact the teaching associate at the Department of Public Health of the American University of Armenia Dr. Yelena Amirkhanyan, MD, MPH.

(374-10) 51-25-68 9:00 a.m.-5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday

#### Sample

The sampling unit for this survey is the telephone number.

The four-digit random numbers are generated by the means of Microsoft Excel program. (Insert-Function: =RANDBETWEEN (999, 9999)). Then the code of Hamaynk is assigned to each number. Therefore, the first two digits are correspond to the existing telephone exchanges, i.e area codes (for example 54-Kentron Hamaink), and the remaining four digits are randomly generated.

For each telephone number, it should be first determined whether it is a household number or business number. Then screening questions should be asked to select the eligible respondent within a household.

The sample size for the survey is estimated to be 90. Then the numbers are proportionately divided according to the number of people living in each Hamaynk (**Table 1**).

# Eligible Telephone Number

An eligible telephone number for this survey is the telephone number that is provided to an interviewer on an Interviewer Report form (IRF), and that is residential phone number (not business).

Telephone number on IRF

Only telephone numbers given to you on IRF-s are eligible to be called. If you misdial a number, no one at that number should be interviewed. If you dial a number on IRF and learn that the number has been changed, you should not call the new number, since that number is still eligible.

#### **Telephone number for residence**

Only residential telephones are eligible for this survey. A residential phone is a telephone located in a residence and used primarily for private, non-business purposes. Usually business phone is answered in different way, by identification of the person's name or name of an office, etc. If you are not sure that you have reached residential phone number, than you should probe to be sure.

#### **Eligible Respondent**

The eligible respondent in a household is the adult household member (male or female) age between 18 and 65 years whose birthday is coming to be celebrated soon. To determine which adult had the next birthday in a household screening questions are asked. If the adult household member having the next birthday is then determined to be over 65, no interview will be conducted.

#### **Gaining Cooperation and Establishing Rapport**

An RDD sample means that respondents receive your initial call without advance letter; therefore these are "cold" contacts. Although this survey does not touch sensitive issues, your ability to gain respondent's trust and cooperation will be critical to successfully administer the survey. If you feel that respondent is uncomfortable, tell him/her, that all answers will be kept confidential, and his/her opinion is very important for the study.

#### **Answering Respondents Questions**

It is very important that you are familiar with this manual before starting interviews. If respondent asks a general question about the study, refer him/her to the Dr. Yelena Amirkhanyan. Generally, be sure to listen carefully and understand what person is asking, then answer briefly, but directly to the point.

Some common questions that might be asked and how to answer them

- 1. How did you get my phone number? I selected your number randomly from all the possible Yerevan numbers by dialing random digits.
- 2. Why don't you call someone else? Your opinion is very important for us, because once we selected randomly a phone number and a household member, than we must talk to that person.
  - 3. How long it will take? On the average, this interview takes about 10-15 minutes.

#### Procedures for recontacts, data collection forms, and disposition codes

#### Procedures for recontacts

- 1 .We will make a maximum number of attempts to reach a number. If the number is not still reached prior to week the data collection ends it is considered as non-reached.
- 2. We will not let the phone ring more than six times. If after six times there is no answer, we will treat this call as no response (see item 4 and 5).
- 3. On busy numbers, we will call the number a maximum number of times until we reach it. If the number is not reached prior to week the data collection ends it is considered as non-reached.
- 4. For no response calls, we will call back next day until we reach it.
- 5. If prior to week the data collection ends the line is still busy or there is no answer, we will replace the phone number changing the place of third and fourth digits. In a case when third and fourth digits are the same, the place of fifth and sixth digits will be changed.
- 6. If there is no eligible person in the household, we will replace the number (see point 5).
- 7. If the number is out of service, temporarily does not connected to the phone station, or business phone number, we will replace the number (see point 5).
- 8. If the call has been interrupted during the interview, we will call back and continue the interview.

#### **Data collection forms**

All call attempts and their outcomes will be registered on an Interviewer Report Form (IRF) according to disposition codes mentioned on IRF. Description of deposition codes IS provided below. Interviewer Report Form is provided on Appendix 2.

#### **Disposition Codes**

#### Pre-respondent selection

#### Non-residential (code # 22)

We will assign this code when the telephone number reaches no residence, i.e. business, professional office, etc. This is a final disposition. In this case, we will replace telephone number changing the third and fourth numbers.

#### Temporary disconnect (code # 23)

We will assign this code when the number dialed is temporarily disconnected. It is pending disposition or final after if it is not reached prior to the week of data collection period. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### Other nonworking number (code # 24)

This disposition includes all other nonworking numbers, such as not in service, permanently disconnected ("the number you are dialing does not exist"), or not yet connected. This is a final disposition. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### Refused screening (code # 33)

No one in the household is willing to give the information to select a respondent. This is a final disposition. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### No answer (code # 34)

Use this code if no answer (NA when no one picks up the phone: do not keep more than six hooters). This is a pending disposition or final after if it is not reached prior to the week of data collection period. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### Busy number (code # 35)

We will use this code when phone shows busy after ten attempts with one day interval. This disposition becomes final after if it is not reached prior to the week of data collection period.

#### Non-Armenian speaking households (code #36)

If no one in this household speaks Armenian, then this is a final disposition, and we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### Other not screened (code #30)

We will use this code in some other situation that is not covered above. It can be pending or final disposition.

#### Post-respondent-selection

#### Partial interview (code #11)

Respondent terminated the interview part-way through it. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### Completed interview (code#12)

We have completed an interview with selected respondent. This is final disposition. It requires no replacement.

#### Refused interview (code #3)

Selected respondent refuses to be interviewed or refuses to finish the entire interview. This is a final disposition. We will not replace this number.

#### **Unavailable on duration (code #13)**

Respondent is selected but is sick or on vacation, deaf or cannot speak Armenian Therefore, he/she is unavailable for the interview for the duration of this study. This is final disposition. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### **Ineligible (code #14)**

We will choose this disposition when there is no one currently living in the household who meets selection criteria. This is a final disposition. In this case, we will replace telephone number swapping third and fourth digits.

#### Other screened (code # 15)

Some other situation that is not covered by the above codes is assigned here. It is pending or final disposition.

# **APPENDIX 2 - Interviewer Report Form # -----**

Number to dial	
----------------	--

**Pre -respondent selection** 

Disposition	Code	Replaced 77
Nonresidential (business)	22	
Temporary disconnect	23	
Other nonworking number	24	
Refused screening	33	
No answer	34	
Busy number	35	
Non-Armenian speaking		
household	36	
Other not screened	30	

# **Post-respondent selection**

Disposition	Code	Replaced 77
Partial interview	11	
Completed interview	12	
Refused interview	3	
Unavailable for duration	13	
Ineligible	14	
Other screened	15	

# **APPENDIX 3 - English and Armenian versions of Survey Questionnaire**

## Questionnaire: English Version

#### Part 1

Screening questions (SQ)

Good evening (Good afternoon)

**SQ\*1:** Is this a ----- (phone #)? [If yes, continue] [If no, see protocol]

**SQ2:** Is this a home number? [If yes, continue] [If no, see protocol]

I am (student name), a student of Public Health Department of the American University of Armenia. The American University of Armenia is conducting a study concerning health topic.

**SQ3:** I am looking to the person between 18 and 65 years of age. Are there such persons currently living in your household?

[If yes, continue]

*SQ4:* May I talk to the person whose birthday is coming soon? [If eligible person called to the phone, read consent form and begin interview]

[If the informant's answer is: **Don't know any birthdays other than my own**, ask the name, read consent form and begin interview if meets inclusion criteria]

#### Part 2 Oral consent form

As I already said, I am Liana Hakobyan, a student of Public Health Department of the American University of Armenia. As a part of my course requirements The American University of Armenia is conducting a study concerning physical activity patterns of Yerevan population. You are chosen to participate in this study since your telephone number was randomly selected from all the possible Yerevan numbers. I would be very thankful to you if you answer some questions about your physical activity that I am going to ask. The interview will take you approximately 20 minutes.

Any information that you provide will be coded, held anonymous and will not be linked to your phone number. There is no risk to you.

You will not receive any financial or other benefits for participation in this study.

Your participation is very important and valuable for the investigation and hopefully it will help to promote physical activity among Yerevan population.

Your participation is voluntary. You can refuse to participate as well as you can refuse to answer any question you do not want to answer. Also you can interrupt the conversation whenever you want and there will be no negative consequences for you.

Thank you in advance. Do you have any questions?

So, would you like to participate?

	s, continue] Let us begin do not continue] Thank you anywhere, goodbye
	ondent ID # ionnaire #
Part 3 Physic	cal Activity Questions
days.	D: I am going to ask you about the time you spent being physically active in the last 7 Please answer each question even if you do not consider yourself to be an active n. Think about the activities you do at work, as part of your house and yard work, to om place to place, and in your spare time for recreation, exercise or sport.
did in Vigor lifting partici	D: Now, think about all the vigorous activities which take hard physical effort that you the last 7 days.  ous activities make you breathe much harder than normal and may include heavy digging, shoveling snow, chopping wood, heavy construction work, climbing up stairs, ipating in strenuous sports, such as aerobics, fast bicycling and fast swimming. It only about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.
1.	During the <b>last 7 days</b> , on how many days did you do <b>vigorous</b> physical activities?  Days per week  88. Don't Know/Not Sure  99. Refused
2.	How much time did you usually spend doing vigorous physical activities on one of those
days?	
	Hours per day
	Minutes per day
	98. Don't Know/Not Sure 99. Refused
last 7 Mode includ scrubb walkin	O: Now think about activities which take moderate physical effort that you did in the days. rate physical activities make you breathe somewhat harder than normal and may le carrying light loads, pushing a vacuum cleaner, sweeping, washing windows, bing floors, bicycling at a regular pace, swimming at a regular pace, etc. Do not include ng. Again, think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 es at a time.
3.	During the <b>last 7 days</b> , on how many days did you do <b>moderate</b> physical activities?  Days per week  88. Don't Know/Not Sure  99. Refused

4.	How much time did you usually spend doing <b>moderate</b> physical activities on one of
	those days? Hours per day
	Minutes per day
	98. Don't Know/Not Sure
	99. Refused
	99. Refused
work	D: Now think about the time you <i>spent walking</i> in the last 7 days. This includes at and at home, walking to travel from place to place, and any other walking that you t do solely for recreation, sport, exercise, or leisure.
5.	During the <b>last 7 days</b> , on how many days did you <b>walk</b> for at least 10 minutes at a time?
	Days per week
	88. Don't Know/Not Sure
	99. Refused
6.	How much time did you usually spend <b>walking</b> on one of those days?
0.	— Hours per day
	Minutes per day
	98. Don't Know/Not Sure
	99. Refused
	77. Refused
This r down	de time spent at work, at home, while doing course work, and during leisure time. may include time spent sitting at a desk, visiting friends, reading or sitting or lying to watch television. Include also time spent lying but when not asleep.
7.	During the last 7 days, how much time did you usually spend <i>sitting</i> on a <b>week day</b> ?  Hours per weekday
	Minutes per weekday
	98. Don't Know/Not Sure
	99. Refused
	Part 4 General Questions
strong	ase indicate if you strongly agree, agree, neither agree nor disagree, disagree, or gly disagree with the following statement:  Physical activity is beneficial for health
	1. Strongly agree
	2. Agree
	3. Neither agree nor disagree
	4. Disagree
	5. Strongly disagree
	98. Don't Know/Not Sure
	99. Refused
9. Plea	ase, tell me, do you think that you get as much physical activity as you should?

1. Yes (go to question 11)

- 2. No
- 98. Don't Know/Not Sure
- 99. Refused
- 10. Tell me, please, what are the barriers for getting enough physical activity? (Do not read, circle all that apply)

Fear to be injured
Difficult to answer
Other (specify)
9. Refused to answer

- 11. Do you currently smoke?
- 1. Yes
- 0. No (go to question 13)
- 99. Refused to answer
- 12. How many cigarettes do you smoke during a day?

----- (number of cigarettes)

- 98. Don't Know/Not Sure
- 99. Refused
- 13. Which of the following best describes your health today?
  - 1. Excellent
  - 2. Very good
  - 3. Good
  - 4. Fair
  - 5. Poor
  - 98. Don't Know/Not Sure
  - 99. Refused to answer
- 14. Which of the following bets describes your weight today?
  - 1. Too skinny
  - 2. Normal
  - 3. Slightly overweight
  - 4. Fat
  - 5. Very fat
  - 98. Don't Know/Not Sure
  - 99. Refused

#### Part 5

Socio-demographic Questions

Now I am going to ask you some questions regarding your age, etc.
15. What was your age on your last birthday?99. Refused to answer
16. What is your level of education?
1. Incomplete secondary (up to 8 years)
<ul><li>2. Complete secondary (up to 10 years)</li><li>3. College (2 years)</li></ul>
4. Institute/ university (5-6)
5. Postgraduate
6. Other (please, specify) 98. Don't know
98. Don't know 99. Refused to answer
17. Are you occupied?
1. Yes
0. No (go to question 19)
99. Refused to answer
18. What is your occupation?
99. Refused to answer
19. What is your marital status?
1. Single
2. Married
<ul><li>3. Divorced</li><li>4. Widowed</li></ul>
99. Refused to answer
20. On average how much money does your household spend monthly?
1. Below 25 000 dram
2. 25 001 to 50 000 dram
3. 50 001 to 200 000 dram
4. More than 200 001 dram
98. Don't know 99. Refused to answer
77. Refused to answer

21. Circle gender of respondent (Ask only if unable to identify.)

0. Male

1. Female

This is the end of our conversation.

Thank you very much for your participation

Do you want to add something? ------

If you have questions regarding to this study or if you are interested in the results of this study as well as if you think that during the interview you were treated unfairly you are free to contact Dr. Yelena Amirkhanyan at the American University of Armenia, Marshal Bagramyan, 40 tel: (37410)

512568.

## Questionnaire: Armenian Version

??1

#### ? ?????????? ?????? (??)

??????????????)

? ? 1 : ? ? ?? ---------- ??????  $\pm$  (???????????, ????????? áõÕ cáố lớ  $\pm$  ? ? 2 : ? ??????????????????? áõÕ cáố lớ  $\pm$ 

???????? ?? ??????? »ÙĐ³ ਉëï °ÝÇ °Ù»nÇÏ Û°ÝаÙ° Éë³ñ°ÝÇ Đ°Ýñ°ÛÇÝ °éáQç³ à °ÑãõÃÛ°Ý ′°ÅÇÝÁ°Ýó ¿Ï° óÝãõÙ Ñï °¼ãï áõÃÛáõÝ? éáQc³ à °Ñ ?°Ý???????:

???2

# $\underline{\mathbf{D}}^{3} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{U}}^{3} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{O}}^{3} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{U}}^{4} \overset{\sim}{\mathbf{V}}^{5}$

ÇÝãà»ë »ë ³ ñ¹»Ý ³ ë³ óÇ, °ë Èdz ݳ Đ³ ÏaµÊ ÝÝ »Ù, ² Ù»ñÇÏÊ Ý Đ³ Ù³ Ƴ ñ³ ÝÇ Đ³ Ýñ³ ÇÝ ² éáÕç³ à³ ÑáõÃÊ Ý ′³ ÅÇÝÁ ϳ ï³ ñáðÙ ¿Ñ³ GÇÝ ² éáÕç³ à³ ÑáõÃÊ Ý ′³ ÅÇÝÁ ϳ ï³ ñáðÙ ¿Ñ»ï³ ¼áï áõÃÊðố ° ñ° ¾ÝÇ µÝ³ ÏãáõÃÊ Ý ÝÇ ¼Çϳ ϳ ݳ Ïï Çí áõÃÊ Ý Ý ;ñ³ µ»ñÊ É ¸ áõu ÁÝï ñí »É»ù Ù³ ĕݳ Ió»Æåõ³ Ê Ñ³ ñóÙ³ ÝÁ, ù³ ݼÇ Ó»ñ ѳ é³ Ëáë³ Ñ³ ܳ ñÝ ¿ñ ÁÝï ñí »É à³ ï³ Ñ³ ϳ Ýáñ»Ý ° ñ° ³ ÝÇ µáÆññ ѳ é³ Ëáë³ Ñ³ Ù³ ñÝ»ñÇó:

°ë ß³ ï ߥáñѳ ϳ ÉÏ ÆÇݻ٠»Ä»¹ áõù à³ ï³ ë˳ Ý»ù ÙÇ ù³ ÝÇ Ñ³ ñóÇ Ó»ñ ýǼÇϳ ϳ Ý

³ Ïï Çí áõÃÊ Ý í »ñ³ µ»ñÊ É Đ³ ñó³ ¼ñáðŪŚÁ Ïï "Ç Ùáï ³ í áñ³ à»ë15 ñáà»:

Ò»ñ ĬáÕÙÇó ï ñ³ Ù³ ¹ñí ³ Í µáÆñï ï »Õ»ÏáõÃÆðÏÝ nÁ · ³ Õï ÝÇ Ïà³ Ñà³ Ý1 »Ý:

س ĕݳ Ïó»Æðī¹ »àùáð٠ݳ dz ï »ëí ³ Í ã»Ýáñ" ¿¹ ñ³ Ù³ ϳ Ý Ï³ Ù³ Œà³ ñ· "Ý»ñ:

Ø» Ýù µ³ ñÓñ »Ýù · ݳ ѳ ï áðÙ Ó»ñ Ù³ ëݳ ÏóáõÃæðÍÁ, "Ó»ñ à³ ï ³ ë˳ ÝÝ»ñÁ ËÇëï

³ ñÅ»ù³ í áñ »Ý Ù»½Ñ³ Ù³ ñ " Ñݳ ñ³ í áñ ¿áñ Ó»ñ Ù³ ëݳ ÏóáõÃæðÍÁðÍÁ Ïû· ÝÇ µ³ ñ»Ē í »É

° ñ° ³ ÝÇ µÝ³ ÏãáõÃÊ Ý ýÇÆÇϳ ϳ ݳ Ïï Çí áõÃÊ Ý Û ä ϳ ñ¹³ ÏÁ:

¸³ Ó»ñ áñáßáðÙÝ ¿Ù³ ëݳ Ïó»ÉÑ»ï ³¾áï áõÃÊ ÝÁ, û á' 㠰û¹áõù ã»ù ó³ Ýϳ ݳ
à³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý»Éáñ" »Ñ³ ñóÇ` ï »Õ»Ï³ óñ»ù ÇÝÓ, " Ü»Ýù ϳ ÝóÝ»Ýù ÙĈãõe ѳ ñóCÝ, ϳ Ù

ÏÁݹѳ ï »Ýù ѳ ñó³ ¼ñáðÖÁÁ: °Ã» ãáðػݳ ù ß³ ñáðݳ Ï »Éѳ ñó³ ¼ñáðÖÁÁ ó³ Ýϳ ó³ Í
ų Ù³ ݳ Ï ö»ù ÇÝÓ, " Ù»Ýù ÏÁݹ ѳ ï »Éù ŠÃÔ° ¼ñáðÖÁÁ ° ° Ýϳ ó³ Í

ܳ ˳ à»ë ß∕áñѳ ϳ É»Ù: àð∕vù ѳ ñó»ñ: ò³ Ýϳ ÝáðÙ»ù ³ ñ¹ Ĝàù Ù³ ëݳ Ïó»É:

(»Ã» ³ t͡a, t͡³ ñáðī́ ³ Ï»f) (»Ã» áã - ³ Ù»Ý ¹» à ùáðÙ t͡S/áñѳ Ï ³ fáðà t͡aðī́, óï » ëáðà t͡aðí)

#### üÆÆÆÎ²Î²Ü²ÎîÆiàôÂÚàôÜ

 $^2$ e³ó» ù Ëݹñ» ٠û áñù³ Ý Å³ ऐ ݳ Ï »ù ¸ áðù »Õ ÉýǼϳà»e³Ï ï Çī í »ñçÇÝ 7ûñí³ ÁÝóóùáðÙ Ê Ý¹ñáðÙ»Ùà³ï³ë˳ Ý» ù µáÞãñ ѳñó» ñÇÝ,³ ݳٻû ¸ áðù ã» ùѳ ऐ³ñáðÙ Ò ½ ýǼÇϳà» ë³Ï ï Çĭ ³ ÝÓ/³ í áñáð¶ÃðÝ Øt³Í » ù ³ ÛÝ· áñÍ áŒáðÃÃÃÃÔÝ% ñÇ ऐ³ EÇÍ, áñ ¸ áðù Ï ³ ñáðÙ»ù³ ß˳ï³ ŶùÇ í ³ ÛñáðÙ ï ³ ÝÁϳÙÑáÕ ऐ ëáðÙ ÙÏ í³ ÛħÇŏ ÛÅõë í³ Ûħ ï »Õ ÷áËí »ÁÇ; ϳÙÒ»ñ ѳ Ý· ëï Ç" ų ऐ³ ÝóÇų ऐ³ ݳÏ:

ì » ñç ÇÝ 7 ûñí ³ ÁÝó ớù áõÙ ù³ ÝÇ ûñ » ù ϳ ï³ ñ» É**Í ³ Ýñ** ç³ Yu à ³ ѳ Ýç áÕý ǼÇϳ ϳ Ý · áñÍ áÕãõÃÎ åõÝ ½ñ

\_\_\_\_ úñ ß³ μ³ Ãí ³ ÁÝó óùáõÙ------

88 â. Çi » Ù/¹ Åí ³ ñ³ Ýá õÙ » Ù à³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É 99. Đĩ³ ų ñí á õÙ » Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É

<u>°Â° ä²î²êʲÜÀ 0¾</u>â¶Æ °Ø,βØ¸Äì²ð²ÜàôذØä²î²êʲܰÈ,²Üò°øĐ²ðò 3ÆÜ:

2 àñù³±ÝųٳݳÏ »ù ¸áõù ëáí áñ³μ³ñͳËëáðÙͳÝñç³Ýù à³Ñ³ÝçáÕýǼÇϳϳÝ ·áñÍáÕãõÃĹÃŏÝÝ»ñÇíñ³³ÛàÇëÇûñ»ñÇÝ.

ijÙÙ»Ï ûñáõÙ------

88 â· Çï »Ù/¹ Åí ³ñ³ ÝáõÙ »Ù à³ï ³ ë˳ Ý»É 99. Đĩ³ ų ñí áõÙ »Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý»É

ðáa» Ù» Ï ûñáõÙ-----

² ÛÂÙ Ùi ³Í » ù ÙÇÇÇÝ ç³ Ýù à³Ñ³ ÝçáÕ ýǼÇϳϳ Ý · áñÍ áÕáõÄĹåõ Ýý»ñÇ ऐ³ ëÇÝ, áñ ¸ á õù ϳ ï³ ñ»É »ù í »ñçÇÝ 7 ûñí ³ ÁÝó óù áð Þ ØÇÇÝ ç³ Ýù à³Ñ³ ÝçáÕ ýǼÇϳϳ Ý · áñÍ áÕáõÄĹáŏ Ýý»ñÁ Ýñ³ Ýù »Ý áñá Ýù ëáí áñ³ ϳ ÝÇó ÙÇ ÷ áùñ » ݳñ³ · ³ óYá õÙ Òn ßYã³ éã ÕÅLã ÕÝ Áöï Ý »ñdz à³Ï ÇÝ »ñ³ é»É ûà µ » é»ñÇï »Õ ÷ á Ëá đùÁ ÷ áßö Ïáö Íáö Iɳï »ÆÁ ³ í »É¾ Íáõë³ Ùáõï Ý »ñdz à³Ï ÇÝ »ñ ऐ³ ùñ »ÆÁ ѳï³Ï ɹ³ ݪ ÆÁ ÙÇÇݳñ³ · áõÃÛ Ùµ ѻͳ ÝÇĨ í³ñ» ÉÁ ÙÇÇݳñ³ · áõÃÛ Ùµ ÉáÕ ÉÁ, ϳÙ³Œ · áñÍ áÕãõÃĹãŏÝÁ»ñ ñ³ í »ù ↓ páë ÝsÉÁ ù Û\$ÆÂ ÎñÏ ÇÝ, Ùï³Í »ù ÙǰÛݳÛÝ ýǼÇϳϳÝ · áñÍ áÕãõÃĹãŏÝÁ»ñÇ ÙªÇÝ, áñ ¸ áõù ϳï³ñô³Ý ÝųٳݳÏ:

3 ì »ñçÇÝ 7 ûñí ³ ÁÝó óùáõÙ ù³ ÝÇ ûñ »ù Ï ³ ï °É **􂍂Ý** ç³ Ýù ೠѳ Ýçá ÕýǼÇÏ ³ Ï ³ Ý · áñÍ á**Qã**õÃÍ£åốÝ.

\_\_\_ úñ  $\beta^3 \mu^3 \tilde{A}$ í  $^3 ext{ ÁÝÃ}^3 ext{ où} ext{á} ext{où} ext{d} ext{OÙ}$ ------

88 â· Çï »Ù/¹ Åí ³ñ³ ÝáõÙ »Ù à³ï ³ë˳ Ý»É 99. Đĩ³ ų ñí áõÙ »Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý»É

<u>°Â° ä²î²êʲÜÀ 0¾</u>â¶ Æ °Ø,βØ¸Äì²ð²ÜàôذØä²î²êʲܰÈ,²Üò°øĐ²ðò 5-ÆÜ:

	ٳݳϻù¸áõùëáíáñ³µ³ñͳËëáðÙÇçÇÝç³Ýùà³Ñ³ÝçáÕýǼÇϳϳÝ ÝÍ»ñÇíñ³³Ûûñ»ñÇ£
	— — ijÙÙ»Ï ûñáõÙ
	— — — ðáa⇒ Ù∍Ï ûñáõÙ
	88 â·Çi»Ù/¹Åí³ñ³ÝáõÙ»Ùà³ï³ë˳ݻÉ 99. Đñ³Å³ñíáõÙ»Ùà³ï³ë˳ݻÉ
7 ûñi 3 ÁÝÃ3 c	ù °ÛÝŰ ٰY°ÏÇÜ °ÇÝ, áñ ¸áôn Í°Ë °É ù ½á °ÝDÇ áï ùáí ù°ÛÉ É õí r°í » ñçÇÝ óùá dù °ÛÝÝ» r°é ốÙ ¿ï°ÝÁ °GË °ï°ÝùÇí°Û rá ÔÙ °Ü rë á ôÙ °ÚÉ Á, ÙÇí°Û rÇó ï» Õ°÷ á EíáÁ, Ñ°Ý °EïÇ, ŰٰÝóÇϰ٠ٰñ½ » É õÝá°ï°Ïáí ϰï°ñíá Õ
5 ì »ñçÇÝ7û ÁÝóóùáõÙ	ñí³ ÁYóóùáõÙù³ÝDZûñ»ù ¸áõù ½náëÝ»É∕ãi ùáí <b>ù³ŰÉ»É</b> Ù∘ݳ ùÇãÁ 10 ñáa »Ý»ñÇ
AIA OUAOU	úñ β³ μ³ Ãí ³ ÁÝó óùáõÙ 88 â· Çi »Ù/ ¹ Åí ³ ñ³ ÝáõÙ »Ù à³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É 99. Đñ³ ų ñí áõÙ »Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É
<u>°Â°ä²î²ê</u> 7-ÆÜ:	<u>eʲÜÀ 0¾</u> â¶Æi °Ø,βظÄì²ð²ÜàôذØä²î²êʲܰÈ,²Üò°øÐ²ðò
6 àñù³±Ýų	ٰݰϻ ù ¸áõùͰ Ëë» É½páëÝ» Éáõ∕áïù áíù°ÛÉ» Éãõíñ°°Ûûñ» ñÇÝ.
	— — ijÙÙ»Ï ûñáõÙ
	— — ðáá» Ù»Ï ûñáõÙ 88 â· Çi »Ѷ¹Åi³ñ³ ÝáõÙ»Ùá³ï³ë˳ Ý»É 99. Đñ³Å³ñí áõÙ»Ùá³ï³ ë˳ Ý»É
Ü»ñ³é»ù³ Û ѳÝ: ëï CųŪ	ù °ÛYÅ°Û Y°ÏÇÛ °EÇY, áñ ¸áðu °Yó »ù Ï °óñ»ÉYE °Íí»ñçÇÝ 7ûñí °ÁYðóùáðU ÝÅ°Û Y°ÏÁ, áñ ¸áõù °Yó »ù Ï °óñ»ÉYE °Í °ßË °ï °YùÇí °ÛřáðU ï °YÁ, ÌÇY: °ÛYÏ °ñãÕ; Ysñ °é»ÉY° " e»Õ YÇÜE"Yeï »ÞÁ, Ï °ñ °° ÞÁ, YE »ÞÁÏ °Ù à °ÉÏ »ÞÁ ÎÒ Y°ÛÁÇE, µ°ñ»Ï °ÙYsñÇÏ °ÙÁYÏ »ñYsñÇÜE"Yeï »ÞÁ °° ŒY:Ü »ñ° é»ù Y° °° ŒY iñ ¸áõù °Yó »ù Ï °óñ»Éà °é Ï °Í, µ° Ó °ñÁáõYíÇ×°ÏáõÙ
7. ì »ñçÇÝ 7 û ÁÝó óùáõÙ	ñí³ ÁÝóóùáõÙ, áñù³Ý Å³Ù³Ý³Ï »ù ³Ýó ϳóñ»É <b>Ýëï³Í</b> ³ ß˳ï³Ýù³ÛÇÝ ûñí³
AIA OUZOU	ij Ù ³ ß˳ ï ³ Ýù³ ÛÇÝ ûñÁ
	—————————————————————————————————————
	88 â· Çi »Ù¹Åi³ñ³ ÝáõÙ» Ùá³ï³ë˳ Ý» É 99. Đĩ³Å³ñi áõÙ» Ùá³ï³ë˳ Ý» É

#### ???4

#### $\grave{A} \acute{Y}^1 \~{N}^3 \acute{Y} \acute{a} \~{o} \~{n} \~{N}^3 \~{n} \acute{o} \sim \~{n}$

8 Ê Ý rão Ù» Ù ÝB» ù, ³ rĩ Ưàu , áo ù É Cái CÝ Ñ Ù³ Ó³ ÛÝ» ù, Ñ Ù³ Ó³ ÛÝ» ù, áã Ñ Ů Ó³ ÛÝ» ù, á㠿ɹ áã, ѳ Ù³ Ó⁵ ÛÝ ã» ù, Ãъ ³ Ù» Ý CÝ Ñ Ů Ở° ÛÝ ã» ù Ñъ ï Û³ É à ݹ Ù Ý Ñ» ï ª ü Ç Þ Q ϳ ϳ Ý í ³ nÅáo à Lão ÝÝ» nÁ û ï ³ Ï ³ n » Ý CÙ ³ é á Õ; áo Û³ Ý Ñ Ů³ n:

- 1. ÈÇáí ÇÝѳ Ù³ Ó³ ÛÝ»Ù
- 2.  $\overrightarrow{D}^3 \overrightarrow{U}^3 \overrightarrow{O}^3 \overrightarrow{U} + \overrightarrow{V} \overrightarrow{V}$
- 3 àãÑ Ử Ó ÛÝ »Ù áã;É áã
- 4. Đ³ Ù³ Ó³ ÛÝã»Ù
- 5. <sup>2</sup>Ù» Ý ÇÝ Ñ Ù Ớ ÛÝã»Ù
- 88 â · Ci » Ù ¹ Åí ³ ñ³ Ýá õÙ» Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É
- 99 Đĩ<sup>3</sup> ų ñí áõÙ » Ùà ³ ï ³ ëË ³ Ý»É

9. ² ë³ ó» ù, Ëݹ ñ» Ù, ³ ñ¹ Ûàù ¹áõù ѳ Ù³ ñá ốÙ» ù, áñ¹/p³ Õ táõÙ» ù  $\mu$ ³ í³ ñ³ ñ ýǼÇϳ ϳ Ý ³ Ïï ÇĨ táõÃĴ³ Ùı:

1. ³ Ûa (³ Ýó»ù 11 ѳ ñóÇÝ)

2 áã

88 â. Çï »Ù/¹Åſ³ñ³ ÝáõÙ»Ùà³ï ³ë˳ Ý»É

99. Đổ<sup>3</sup> Å<sup>3</sup> ñí áõÙ » Ù à <sup>3</sup> ï <sup>3</sup> ë Ë <sup>3</sup> Ý» É

10. Ê Ý rãa ĈÙ» Ù³ ë³ ó» ù, á rãa Ýù »Ý Ë á ã Ý á ï Ý» rãa Á Ó rãa  $\mu$ ³ í ³ ñ³ ñ ý Ç ½ Ç Ï³ ϳ ݳ Ĭ ï Ç í á ð à Û³ Ý Ñ³ Ù³ ñ (a ϳ n1³ £ a18 É a2 Å a3 Å a4 Å a5 Å a5 Å a6 Å a7 Å a8 Å a8 Å a9 Å a9 Å a18 Å a19 Å a18 Å a

- 1. ųٳݳÏÇà³Ï³ëáõÃÛãõÝ
- 3 Ñá ݳÍáõÃLåõÝ
- 4. ÷ áÕÇ à ³ ϳ ëáõÃÛåõÝ
- 5 ³ Ïï Çi Bînç³ à ³ ï Ç à³ Ï ³ ë áõÃÇãõÝ
- 6 <sup>3</sup> ÙáÃC ½ 3 óá õÙ
- 7. í ݳëí »Éáõí³ Ë
- 8 ¹Åí³ñ³ÝáõÙ»Ùä³ï³ë˳Ý»É
- 9 ³ (F----

11. áõù Í Ë áõ±Ù»ù Ý»ñϳ ÛðõÙE

1 <sup>2</sup> Û

2 à ã( ³ Ýớ»ù 13 ѳ ñóÇÝ)

88 â· Çi » Ù/¹Åi ³ñ³ ÝáõÙ » Ù a³ ï ³ë˳ Ý» É

99. Đĩn³ ų ñí áõÙ » Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É

12 ø³ ÝDZ ëdzñ»ï »ù Í ËáõÙûñí³ ÁÝóóùáõÙ

ê Ç  $^3$ ñ»ï  $\overline{\phantom{a}}$ 

88 â · Çî » Ù/¹Åí ³ñ³ ÝáõÙ»Ùá ³ ï ³ ëË ³ ÝsÉ 99. Đĩ³Å³ ñí áõÙ»Ùá ³ ï ³ ë˳Ý»É

1.???????

2. ?? ? ?? ?

3. ?? ?

4.?????

5.???

88 â· Çi » Ù/¹Åí ³ ñ³ ÝáõÙ » Ù à ³ ï ³ ë ˳ Ý» É

99. Đỹ Ả Từ áõÙ » Ùà 3 T 3 EË Y » É

1. ?? ? ?? ????? ???? ?

2.??????

3.?????????

4.???

5.???????

88 â. Çï »Ù/¹Åſ³ñ³ ÝáõÙ»Ùà³ï ³ë˳ Ý»É

99. Đỗ<sup>3</sup>ųñí áõÙ » Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É

? ??? ÃáđŒïí»ù ÇÝÓ????????????? ï ³ É?????????, Ï ñÃáõÃÛ° Ý?????? " ³ ŒÝ

**???** 5

## $\ddot{A}$ á $\tilde{O}$ áí $\tilde{n}^1$ 3 $\cdot$ $\tilde{n}^3$ $\ddot{I}$ 3 $\cdot$ $\dot{Y}$ $\tilde{N}^3$ $\tilde{n}$ $\dot{o}$ » $\tilde{n}$

# 15. Æláu³Ý; Òñï ³ ñQuÁ------

88 â. Çi » Ù/¹Å¹³ñ³ ÝáõÙ» Ù à³ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É 99. Đĩ³Å³ñí áõÙ» Ùà ³ ï ³ ë˳ Ý» É

#### 16 ÆÝā Ï ñÃáõÃĴáõÝáõÝ»+ù

1. ¸ àñáó (8 ï ³ ñÇ)

2. ¸ àñáó (10 ï ³ ñÇ)

3. øá Éç⁄aõëáõÙݳ ñ³ Ý/i » ËÝÇÏ áðÙ

4. ÆÝ eï Çï á ō ѳ Ù³ É ³ ñ³ Ý

5. Đ» ï ¹ Çà **lá** Ù³ **Û**ÇÝ

6. ² **(**ÜÞ° ø)

#### 88 â · Çī » Ù ' ¹ Åí ³ ñ³ YáõÙ » Ù à ³ ï ³ ë Ë ³ Ý » É 99. Đĩ³ ų ñí áõÙ » Ù à ³ ï ³ ë Ë ³ Ý » É

17. AÝã³ ſ˳ï³ Ýù»ùϳï³ñáðÙ

1. -----0. ã»Ù³ ſ˳ ï áðÙ

> 88 â· Çï »Ù/¹Åí³ñ³ ÝáõÙ»Ùá³ï ³ë˳ Ý»É 99 Đĩ³Å³ñí áõÙ»Ùá³ï ³ë˳ Ý»É

18 Üİ ³ñ³·ñ»ù Ò»ñ ÁMî ³ Ýsϳ ݹñáõÃŒáõYÁ

1.ØÇ³ Ûf³ Ï (³ Ùáõĕݳ ♂ Í ãsÙ)

2² Ŭáõĕݳ ó³ Í

3² ÙáõĕݳÉáõÍ í³ Í

4² ÛfÇ

88 â·Çï »Ù'¹Åí³ñ³ ÝáõÙ »Ùá³ï³ë˳ Ý»É

99. Đĩ³Å³ñí áõÙ »Ùá³ï³ ë˳ ÝsÉ

19 Ø á í á í á a » ë á nu² ± Ý · á ð b n ; Í ° Ë ë á õ Ù Ò » ñ Á Ý ° Ý Ç ù Á ° Ù ë » Ï ° Ý.

1. 25000 ¹ ñ ³ Ù Ç ó ù Ç ā

2. 25001 50000 ¹ ñ ³ Ù

3. 50001 200000 ¹ ñ ³ Ù

4. 200001 ¹ ñ ³ Ù Ç ó ß ï

88 â · Ç i » Ù ¹ Å i ³ ñ ³ Ý á õ Ù » Ù à ³ i ° ë Ë ³ Ý » É

99. Đ ñ ³ Å ñ í á õ Ù » Ù à ³ i ° ë Ë ³ Ý » É

 $\ddot{\mathsf{U}} \dot{\mathsf{P}}^{\, \mathrm{o}} \, \dot{\mathsf{g}} \, \dot{\mathsf{e}} \, \dot{\mathsf{e}} \, \dot{\mathsf{A}} \, \, (\dot{\mathsf{P}} \, \dot{\mathsf{d}} \dot{\mathsf{o}} \, \dot{\mathsf{d}}^{\, \mathrm{o}} \, \, \emptyset \, \, \emptyset \, \mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{B}} \, \, \dot{\mathsf{U}} \, \ddot{\mathsf{U}}, \, {}^{o} \, \hat{\mathsf{A}}^{\, \mathrm{o}} \, \, \ddot{a}^{\, 2} \, \partial^{\, 1}\!\!/\! a \, \hat{a}^{\, 3}\!\!/\! ).$ 

0. <sup>2</sup>ñ<sup>3</sup>Ï<sup>3</sup>Ý 1. Æ<sup>3</sup>Ï<sup>3</sup>Ý

ì »ñçáðÙÇÝã Ï ó³ ÝÏ ³ ݳ ÛÇù ³ í »É óÝ»É

Þ ÝáñÑ Ï³ ÞáðÑLáōÝ Òn ç³ Ýù» ñǨ ï ñ³ Ù³ ī ñ³ Í Å³ Ù³ ݳ Ï Ç Ñ³ Ù³ ñ.

• û Ïó³ Ýϳ ݳ ù hã³ óáðóÇãï »Ô» Ïáðà ŪàðÝÝ»ñ ëï ³ ݳ ÉÑ»ï ³ ¼áï áðà Ū³ Ý Ù³ ëÇÝ Ï³ Ù

ϳ ñÍáðÙ »ù, áñ Ñ»ï ³ ¼áï áðà Ū³ Ý ÁÝó óùáðÙ Ò»½Ñ»ï à³ ï ð³ × ã»Ý í »ñ³ µ»ñí »É,

³ à³ ³ Ýà³ Ѿ³ Ý ¹ ÇÙ»ù Ñ»ï ³ ¼áï áðà Ū³ Ý à³ ï ³ ë˳ ݳ ï áð³ ÝÓ»ñÇÝ Đ³ Ū ëï ³ ÝÇ

² Ù» ñÇÏ Ū° Ý Đ° Ù³ ɳ ñ³ ÝÇ Đ³ Ýñ³ ŪÇݲ éáÕç³ à³ Ñá ðÃŪ³ Ý ´³ ÅCÝ

, -ñ °É»Ý³ ² ÙÇñ˳ ÝÛ³ ÝÇÝ, Ñ»é 51 -25-92

Đ³ ñó³ ½ ná ố Ướ dz í ³ ñ ï Á а nó³ ½ ná ố Ướ dz Ù ë³ Ã Ç í Á (*û ñ /² Ù Çë /i̇̀ ³ ñ Ç*)\_\_\_\_\_\_

**TABLE 1 Dependent Variable Used in the Model** 

Variable	Mode of Measurement	Scale		
Physical activity level	1=Health Enhancing Physical activity level Any of the following two criteria: - Vigorous -intensity activity on at least 3 days and accumulating at least 1500 MET-minutes/ week OR - 7 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous -intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 3000 MET-minutes/week.  0= Inactive/Minimally active	Dichotomous 1=Health Enhancing Physical activity level 0=Inactive/Minimally active		
	<ul> <li>No activity is reported <b>OR</b></li> <li>Some activity is reported but not enough to meet category 1</li> </ul>			

**TABLE 2** Independent Variables Used in the Model

Variable	Mode of Measurement	Scale		
Gender		Dichotomous		
		1=Female, 0=Male		
Age	What was your age on your last birthday?	Continuous		
Educational	What is your level of education?	Ordinal		
level		1= Incomplete / Complete		
		secondary		
		2= College (2 years)		
T 1 1		3= Institute/ university/Postgraduate		
Income level	On average how much money does your household	Ordinal		
(proxi- monthly household	spend monthly?	1= Below 25 000 drams		
expenditures)		2= 25,001 to 50,000 drams 3= 50 001 to 200 000 drams		
expenditures)		4= More than 200 001 drams		
Occupational	Are you occupied?	Dichotomous		
status	The you occupied.	1=Yes, 0=No		
Marital status	What is your marital status?	Nominal		
1,20,2,00,2	The state of the s	1= Single		
		2= Married		
		3= Divorced		
		4=Widowed		
Knowledge of	Please indicate if you strongly agree, agree, neither	Ordinal (Likert scale)		
physical activity	agree nor disagree, disagree, or strongly disagree with	1=Strongly agree		
benefit	the following statement:	2= Agree		
	Physical activity is beneficial for health	3= Neither agree nor disagree		
		4=Disagree		
G 4 6 4	DI LI I III.	5= Strongly disagree		
Satisfaction	Please, tell me, do you think that you get as much	Dichotomous		
with the level of	physical activity as you should?	1=Yes, 0= No		
physical activity				
Time spent sitting	During the last 7 days have much time did you yoully	Continuous		
Time spent steing	During the last 7 days, how much time did you usually spend <i>sitting</i> on a <b>week day</b> ?	Hours per weekdayMinutes		
	spend suing on a week day:	per weekday		
Curalina	Do you currently smoke?	Dichotomous		
Smoking status	Do you currently smoke?	1=Yes, 0=No		
Weight	Which of the following bets describes your weight	Ordinal		
(subjective)	today?	From 1= Too skinny		
(Buojective)	iomy.	To 5= Very fat		
		20 0 , or j rut		
Health status	Which of the following best describes your health	Ordinal		
(subjective)	today?	From 1= Excellent		
	•	To 5= Poor		

TABLE 3 Distibution of 18-65 year-old People by Yerevan Quarter Communities (*Hamaynks*)

#	Quarter Community (Hamaynk)	# of people aged 18-65 year- old living in <i>Hamanynk</i>	# of people aged 18-65 year- old according to sample size
1	Malatia - Sebastia	93,041	12
2	Nor-Nork	90,848	12
3	Shengavit	87,646	11
4	Arabkir	84,330	10
5	Kentron	82,651	10
6	Erebuni	75,326	9
7	Achapnyak	67,517	8
8	Kanaker-Zeytun	49,567	6
9	Avan	31,403	5
10	Davidashen	26,026	4
11	Nork-Marash	7,078	2
12	Nubarashen	5,783	1
	Total	701,216	90

**Source:** The Results of 2001 Population Census of the Republic of Armenia 2001 (Figures of Yerevan City) *De Jure Population by Administrative Territorial Distribution, Age Table 2.1.1* (44)

TABLE 4 Prevalence of low-level physical activity in Russian population 2000-2002

Region	Males				Females			
	N	n	%	%	Ν	n	%	%
				st				st
Moscow (telephone survey)	266	339	78,5	<b>74.8</b>	594	720	82,5	<b>74.8</b>
St. Petersburg (telephone survey)	536	704	73,9	75,7	572	754	74,8	<mark>75,4</mark>
Tver (telephone survey)	227	278	81,7	81,2	658	763	86,2	86,1
Tver (personal survey)	455	575	79,1	79,4	507	641	79,1	<mark>79,1</mark>
Vologda (personal survey)	412	530	77,7	<b>78,0</b>	506	666	76,0	<mark>76,2</mark>
Orenburg (personal survey)	566	696	81,3	81,4	492	677	72,7	<mark>72,8</mark>
V. Salda (personal survey)	485	662	73,3	73,1	582	730	79,7	80,2

- N- Number of the persons having risk factor
- n Number of the persons responded to the question
- % Prevalence of risk factor

Retrieved from: http://www.cin.di.ru/mr2-t7-eng.htm

<sup>%</sup> st – Prevalence risk factor age adjusted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Engaging in physical exercise for at least 20-30 minutes which makes person at least mildly short of breath or perspire in leisure time at less then 5 days a week

# **TABLE 5** Timeframe of the Study (2005)

	March	April	May	June	July	August	September
Study design	*						
Questionnaire		*	*				
modification,							
translation,							
culturale							
adaptation.							
pilot testing							
Sample size				*			
calculation							
Data					*	*	
collection							
Data entry						*	
Data analysis						*	*
Report						*	*
preparation							

**TABLE 6 Response to the Telephone Interview Survey** 

	Number	Percent	
Persons Interviewed	72	80	
(Completed interviews)			
Persons Interviewed (Partial	2	2	
interviews)			
Persons Refused	11	12	
Non-reached*	5	6	
Total	90	100	

<sup>\*</sup> people of unknown eligibility who theoretically could be reached during the period of the survey

**TABLE 7 Distribution of Sample Characteristics** 

Characteristics	Category	Percentage of sample representatives having characteristics	
Physical activity level	Non-active	20%	
•	Minimum recommendation	53%	
	physical activity level		
	HEPA active	27%	
Age	Mean age: 40 yrs-old		
	Standard deviation: 13 years		
Gender	Male	31 %	
	Female	69 %	
Education	Secondary	33 %	
	(incomplete/complete)		
	College	24 %	
	University / Postgraduate	43 %	
Occupation	Unoccupied	60 %	
	Occupied	40 %	
Income level	< 25,000	2 %	
	25,000-50,000	21 %	
	50,001-200,000	68 %	
	>200,001	9 %	
Marital status	Single	16 %	
	Married	78 %	
	Divorced	3 %	
	Widowed	3 %	
Health status	Excellent	8 %	
	Very good	19 %	
	Good	49 %	
	Fair	21 %	
	Poor	3 %	
Weight	Too skinny	8 %	
<b>o</b> .	Normal	69 %	
	Slightly overweight	13 %	
	Overweight	10 %	
Smoking status	Smoking	25 %	
U	No smoking	75 %	